
OXFORD MAYOR AND COUNCIL 
REGULAR SESSION 

MAY 6, 2024 – 7:00 P.M. 
CITY HALL – 110 W. CLARK ST. OXFORD, GA 30054 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1. Call to Order – Mayor David S. Eady 
 

2. Motion to accept the Agenda for the May 6, 2024 Mayor and Council Regular 
Meeting. 

 
3. Consent Agenda: 

a. *Minutes of the City Council Regular Session on April 1, 2024  
b. Minutes of the Special Called Budget Work Session on April 4, 2024 
c. *Minutes of the City Council Work Session on April 15, 2024 
d. *Minutes of the Special Called Regular Meeting April 15, 2024 
e.  Minutes of the Special Called Budget Work Session on April 18, 2024 

 
4. Mayor’s Report:   

 
5. Citizen Concerns 

 
6. *Approval to proceed on the new Cemetery Access Road: This was discussed at the 

11/21/22 Council Work Session with a bid from Peach State Construction at an original 
bid of $12,965.  With the time interval, the new price is $13,945, which is still less than 
the $14,000 we had from HCS.  We have $17,000 budgeted in the FY24 Capital Budget 
for this project.  Staff recommends proceeding with Peach State Construction. 
 

7. *Authorization for the Mayor to sign the contract with Burford’s Tree, LLC for 
Powerline Tree Trimming:  The City of Oxford travels under the Covington bidding for 
powerline tree trimming and thus saves money be having the local contractor already 
deployed in the area.  Note:  Although $50,000 was budgeted, their work last year 
extended into the first week of July even though the contract stated it was supposed to be 
completed by June 30.  We would like to see a full $50,000 spent, but the account is a bit 
short because of that last week of work after June 30.  The contract has been revised from 
$45,000 to $50,000 as discussed during the last Work Session. 
 

8. *Authorization for the Mayor and City Manager to sign the Authorization to Close 
the Water and Sewer Sinking Fund: Please see the attached memo from Ms. Brooks.  
The closing of this account will save fees, paperwork, and time. 
 

9. *Update on the Sewer Moratorium: The six-month city-wide sewer moratorium is set 
to expire on May 13, 2024.  The City Council agreed to allowing the moratorium on the 
Catova Creek Line to expire and extending the Turkey Creek Line moratorium until July 
1, 2024.  Please see attached memo for details. 



 
10. Vote to adjust salary for the City Manager, City Clerk and Police Chief: These 

adjustments would be based on recommendations from Councilman George Holt and 
were considered in Executive Session at the April 15 Work Session. 
 

11. *Invoices:  Council will review the city’s recently paid invoices over $1,000. 
 

12. Executive Session:  An Executive Session could potentially be held for Land 
Acquisition/Disposition, Addressing Pending or Potential Litigation, and/or Personnel. 
 

13. Adjourn 
 
*Attachments 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES OF THE OXFORD MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEETING 
REGULAR SESSION 

MONDAY, APRIL 1, 2024 – 7:00 PM 
CITY HALL 

DRAFT 
 
ELECTED OFFICIALS PRESENT:  
David Eady – Mayor 
George Holt – Councilmember 
Laura McCanless – Councilmember 
Mike Ready – Councilmember 
Jeff Wearing – Councilmember  
Erik Oliver – Councilmember 
 
ELECTED OFFICIALS PRESENT:  
Jim Windham – Councilmember 
 

APPOINTED/STAFF PRESENT: 
Bill Andrew – City Manager 
Marcia Brooks – City Clerk/Treasurer 
David Strickland – City Attorney 
Mark Anglin – Police Chief 
Jody Reid – Supervisor of Maintenance and 

Utilities 
Sam Brooks – Police Officer 
Terry White – Police Officer 
 
 

OTHERS PRESENT: Laura Gafnea (Oxford College), Chairman Marcello Banes and Latonya Hamp 
(Newton County Commissioner’s Office), Chairman Lucy Hay (Newton Education Foundation Board) 
 
1. The meeting was called to order by the Honorable David S. Eady, Mayor. 

 
2. Jeff Wearing made a motion to accept the agenda for the April 1, 2024 Mayor and Council 

Regular Meeting.  Erik Oliver seconded the motion.  The motion was approved 
unanimously (6/0).  (Attachment A) 
 

3. Erik Oliver made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda.  Laura McCanless seconded 
the motion.  The motion was approved unanimously 6/0). (Attachment B) 
 

4. Mayor’s Report 
Mayor Eady welcomed Chairman Banes and Chairman Hay to speak to the City Council on their 
appeal for support from all the municipalities in Newton County for the Education First Initiative.  
The City Council pledged their support and will vote on the proclamation at their May voting 
meeting. 
 
Chief Mark Anglin made a presentation to officers Sam Brooks and Terry White. 
 
Mayor Eady announced that the revised scope for the trails grant from the State Office of Planning 
and Budget has been accepted.  The project to build three trails can proceed. 
 
 



April 1, 2024 City of Oxford/Regular Session  2 

 
 

5. Citizen Concerns 
None. 
 

6. Consideration of the Personnel Committee Recommendations (Attachment C) 
 
Erik Oliver made a motion to approve the recommendations of the Personnel Committee.  
Jeff Wearing seconded the motion.  The motion was approved unanimously (6/0). 

 
7. Consideration of Pastor Charlie Williams for Grand Marshal of the July 4th Parade 

(Attachment D) 
 
Laura McCanless made a motion to approve naming Pastor Charlie Williams as Grand 
Marshal for the July 4th Parade.  Erik Oliver seconded the motion.  The motion was 
approved unanimously (6/0).   
 
Mayor Eady added that he should also be designated as Oxford’s Citizen of the Year. 
 

8. Amendment to City of Oxford Ordinance 14-134 – 100-foot Stream Buffer – Second Reading 
(Attachment E) 

 
Laura McCanless made a motion to approve the second reading of the amendment to the 
ordinance.  Mike Ready seconded the motion. The motion was approved unanimously (6/0).  
 

9. Authorization for the Mayor to Sign the Viper Alarm Agreements (Attachment F) 
 

Mike Ready made a motion to authorize the Mayor to sign the Viper Alarm Agreements for 
the four monitored locations.  Jeff Wearing seconded the motion.  The motion was 
approved unanimously (6/0). 
 

10. Authorization for the Mayor to sign the Right-of-Way Easement on Whatcoat Street with 
Emory University (Attachment G) 
 
Laura McCanless made a motion to authorize the Mayor to sign the Right-of-Way easement 
on Whatcoat Street with Emory University.  Jeff Wearing seconded the motion.  The motion 
was approved unanimously (6/0). 
 

11. Authorization for the Mayor to sign the $10,000 Addendum to the Whatcoat Street Design 
Task Order (TO) for the bidding of the Whatcoat Street Realignment (Attachment H) 
 
Laura McCanless made a motion to authorize the Mayor to sign the $10,000 addendum.  
Jeff Wearing seconded the motion.  The motion carried (5/1).  Erik Oliver voted nay. 
 

12. Approval of the Mayor’s Signature for the Statewide Mutual Aid Agreement (Attachment I) 
 
Laura McCanless made a motion to approve the Mayor’s signature for the Statewide Mutual 
Aid Agreement.  Mike Ready seconded the motion.  The motion was approved unanimously 
(6/0). 
 
 



April 1, 2024 City of Oxford/Regular Session  3 

 
13. Request to close City Offices for the BS&A Conversion (Attachment J) 

 
Mike Ready made a motion to: 
a. Close the office May 16th and May 17th  
b. Terminate access to online payments on May 15th at 11:59 pm (restore on May 20th) 
c. Waive 10% penalties for May 2024 

 
Laura McCanless seconded the motion.  The motion was approved unanimously (6/0). 
 

14. Request to add BS&A Human Resources Software Module to our current contract and to 
purchase cashiering equipment for payments (Attachment K) 

 
Erik Oliver made a motion to approve both requests.  Mike Ready seconded the motion.  
The motion was approved unanimously (6/0). 

 
15. Proposal for New Monthly Billing Arrangement for City Attorney (Attachment L) 

 
George Holt made a motion to approve the new monthly billing arrangement for the City 
Attorney.  Erik Oliver seconded the motion.  The motion was approved unanimously (6/0). 
 

16. Council Appointment to the Oxford DDA (Attachment M) 
 
Laura McCanless made a motion to appoint Natalie Raymond to the Oxford DDA.  George 
Holt seconded the motion.  The motion was approved unanimously (6/0). 

 
17. Updated Price Proposal from Shades of Green for Plan to Landscape City Hall Property 

(Attachment N) 
 

Mike Ready made a motion to approve the updated price proposal.  Laura McCanless  
seconded the motion. 
 
Discussion: 
Erik Oliver asked if the site plan includes the rights-of-way around City Hall.  Mayor Eady clarified 
that the right-of-way on Asbury Street is not included but the right-of-way on West Clark Street 
should be included. 
 
The motion was approved unanimously (6/0). 
 

18. Invoices (Attachment O) 
The City Council reviewed invoices paid for $1,000 or more in the month of January 2024.  A 
discussion was held concerning the services provided by Electric Cities of Georgia (ECG). 

 

19. Executive Session 
 
Erik Oliver made a motion to enter Executive Session at 7:40 p.m. to discuss a real estate 
matter and personnel matters. Laura McCanless seconded the motion.  The motion was 
approved unanimously (6/0).  
 
 
 



April 1, 2024 City of Oxford/Regular Session  4 

 
 
George Holt made a motion to exit Executive Session at 8:54 p.m.  Jeff Wearing seconded 
the motion.  The motion was approved unanimously (6/0). 
 

20. Adjourn 
Mike Ready made a motion to adjourn at 8:55 p.m.  George Holt seconded the motion.  The 
motion was approved unanimously (6/0). 

 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Marcia Brooks 
City Clerk/Treasurer 



                                 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES OF THE OXFORD MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEETING 
WORK SESSION 

MONDAY, APRIL 15, 2024 – 6:45 PM 
CITY HALL 

DRAFT 
 

ELECTED OFFICIALS PRESENT: 
David Eady - Mayor 
George Holt – Councilmember 
Jim Windham – Councilmember 
Laura McCanless – Councilmember 
Erik Oliver – Councilmember  
Jeff Wearing – Councilmember 
Mike Ready – Councilmember 

STAFF PRESENT: 
Marcia Brooks – City Clerk/Treasurer 
Bill Andrew – City Manager 
Mark Anglin – Police Chief 
Jody Reid – Supervisor of Utilities and 

Maintenance 
David Strickland – City Attorney

OTHERS PRESENT: Laura Gafnea (Oxford College) 
 
Agenda (Attachment A) 
 
1. Mayor’s Announcements 

Listed in agenda. 
 

2. Committee Reports 
 
a. Trees, Parks, and Recreation Board – No report. 

 
b. Planning Commission – Bill Andrew provided the report. 

 
c. Downtown Development Authority – Mike Ready provided the report. 

 
d. Sustainability Committee – Laura McCanless provided the report. 
 

3. Approval to proceed on the Cemetery Access Road (Attachment B) 
There was no opposition to proceeding with the cemetery access road. 
 

4. Information Concerning the IRS Audit on Lack of Tax Forms with City Contractors  
(Appendix C) 
Marcia Brooks explained the details regarding the audit and the results.  She affirmed that 
staff has adjusted procedures to require a W-9 from all vendors providing any services to 
the City of Oxford.   
 



April 15, 2024 City of Oxford/Work Session  2 

5. Authorization for the Mayor to Sign the contract with Burford’s Tree, LLC for 
Powerline Tree Trimming (Attachment D) 
The City Council agreed to fund the contract at $50,000 for FY 2024. 
 

6. Authorization for the Mayor and City Manager to sign the Authorization to Close the 
Water and Sewer Sinking Fund Checking Account (Attachment E) 
Mayor Eady explained that this request is essentially administrative in nature, but staff felt 
the need to obtain City Council approval due to the significant amount of money being 
considered.  Staff would continue to reserve the monthly amount, but transfer it to the 
Water/Sewer Capital account. 
 
Jim Windham stated that it was set aside separately so that the City Council could see 
where the money was going and ensure that it was not being spent on operating 
expenses.  Ms. Brooks stated that she could provide detailed information each month if 
the City Council prefers that.   
 
Ms. Brooks asked if a formal vote is needed on it.  Mr. Windham suggested transferring 
99% of the amount and bring a request to the City Council to close the account. 
 

7. Update on the Sewer Moratorium (Attachment F) 
Bill Andrew advised the City Council that the moratorium is scheduled to expire on May 
13, 2024.  Archer Aviation is not anticipating using as much capacity as initially thought, so 
the City will have a surplus of capacity.  Therefore, he feels it is safe to lift the moratorium 
for the properties served by Catova Creek.  The City is still waiting for information for the 
Turkey Creek service area.  By July we should know whether the moratorium should be 
extended for the Turkey Creek service area or if additional capacity should be purchased.   
 
He stated that the current administration of Oxford College was not aware that their 50-
year agreement with NCWSA for capacity had expired.  He advised that when a city or 
county enters into an agreement for capacity it is in perpetuity and cannot be taken away.  
The goal is to include Oxford College under the City’s capacity agreement. 
 
Jim Windham recommended that the City not enter into any long-term agreements for 
capacity due to the scarcity of water. 
 

8. Other Business 
None. 
 

9. Work Session Meeting Review 
a. Vote to approve bid from Peach State Construction to extend the Cemetery Access 

Road to Richardson Street. 
b. Vote to approve the contract with Burford Tree for powerline tree trimming. 
c. No vote needed to move the funds from the Sinking Fund checking account to the 

Water/Sewer checking account.  Separate vote to approve closing the account.   
d. Vote to lift the sewer moratorium for the Catova Creek service area and vote to extend 

the moratorium to July 1, 2024 for the Turkey Creek service area. 



April 15, 2024 City of Oxford/Work Session  3 

10. Executive Session 
Jim Windham made a motion to enter Executive Session at 7:38 p.m. to discuss 
personnel matters.  Jeff Wearing seconded the motion.  The motion was approved 
unanimously (7/0). 
 
Laura McCanless made a motion to exit Executive Session at 8:20 p.m.  Mike Ready  
seconded the motion.  The motion was approved unanimously (7/0). 
 

11. Adjourn 
Mayor Eady adjourned the meeting at 8:20 p.m. 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Marcia Brooks 
City Clerk/Treasurer 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES OF THE OXFORD MAYOR AND COUNCIL  
SPECIAL CALLED VOTING MEETING 
MONDAY, APRIL 15, 2024 – 6:30 PM 

DRAFT 
 
ELECTED OFFICIALS PRESENT:  
David Eady – Mayor 
George Holt – Councilmember 
Laura McCanless – Councilmember 
Mike Ready – Councilmember 
Jim Windham – Councilmember 
Erik Oliver – Councilmember 

APPOINTED/STAFF PRESENT: 
Marcia Brooks – City Clerk/Treasurer 
Bill Andrew – City Manager 
Mark Anglin – Police Chief 
Jody Reid – Supervisor of Utilities and 

Maintenance 
David Strickland – City Attorney

     Jeff Wearing – Councilmember 
 
OTHERS PRESENT:  Laura Gafnea (Oxford College). 
 
1. The meeting was called to order by the Honorable David S. Eady, Mayor. 

 
Laura McCanless made a motion to accept the agenda for the April 15, 2024 Mayor and 
Council Special Called Meeting.  Mike Ready seconded the motion.  The motion was 
approved unanimously (7/0).  (Attachment A) 

 
2. Consideration of a Resolution to Relocate a Portion of Whatcoat Street 
 

Mayor Eady provided an overview of the proposed resolution. 
 

Laura McCanless made a motion to approve the resolution.  Mike Ready seconded the 
motion.  The motion carried (5/2).  Erik Oliver and Jim Windham voted nay. 
 

3. Consideration of a Resolution for the conveyance of land and property from the City of 
Oxford to the Oxford Downtown Development Authority for the purposes of redevelopment 
(Attachment B) 
 
Mayor Eady proposed that the City accept payment for rental of the Whatcoat Street building that 
is now due.  The DDA would handle any expenses on the property in coordination with Oxford 
College with funds already in their bank account.  He proposed that no funding should be included 
in the FY 2025 budget for the DDA. 
 
Laura McCanless made a motion to convey the property as recommended.  Mike Ready 
seconded the motion.   
 



April 15, 2024 City of Oxford/Special Called Work Session 2 

 
 
Discussion: 
Erik Oliver asked why the pre-payment for the next leasing period is not going to the DDA.  Mayor 
Eady stated that the DDA does not need the money because they already have funds available.  
They will also work out a lease agreement with Oxford College for lease of the building.  The City 
needs the money in its operating budget.  Mike Ready added that the DDA did not request any 
funds and it would be cleaner to put the rental payment in the City’s account.  The DDA will have a 
much clearer picture in twelve months of where things stand with redevelopment of the property. 
 
The motion carried (5/2).  Erik Oliver and Jim Windham voted nay. 

 
4. Adjourn 

Mike Ready made a motion to adjourn at 6:45 p.m.  Laura McCanless seconded the motion.  
The motion was approved unanimously (7/0). 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Marcia Brooks 
City Clerk/Treasurer 



This image of the cemetery 
in its entirety highlights the 
location of the proposed 
connectivity/access to W. 
Richardson Street. 

Interestingly, the south side 
of the cemetery has five 
access points with W. 
Collingsworth Street, while 
the north side only has one 
access point with W. 
Richardson Street.



The length of the project would be 
approximately 60 feet and would require a 
concrete stormwater pipe with the 
appropriate headwall.



View of the site from W. Richardson Street.

The removal of this tree is 
partly what precipitated 
this effort as this tree had 
been blocking the road 
being brought through to 
W. Richardson Street.



The fill required 
create a 
roadbed over 
this ditch will be 
significant.



Proposal To:

Jody Reid Date:

City of Oxford

110 W. Clark Street Job:

Oxford, GA 30054

Proposal:

Estimator: Tom Garrett

Description Quantity Unit Unit Price Amount

I. Cemetery Driveway Extension

1 Grading for driveway (incl. removal of part of large stump), import

fill & GAB for preparation of subgrade & #57 for pipe bedding 1.00      ls 5,160.00$    5,160.00$    

2 Install 18" RCP in ditch along W. Richardson St - no end sections 1.00      ls 2,420.00$    2,420.00$    

3 Install 5" thk conc. driveway (approx. 60' x 8') 1.00      ls 4,865.00$    4,865.00$    

4 Backfill, clean up and grassing 1.00      ls 1,500.00$    1,500.00$    

Total 13,945.00$  

II. Notes

1 Excludes:

A. Utility Relocation and/or Adjustments

2 Excavation area within cemetery to be marked by City prior to work

*This proposal represents the unit price summary for the referenced project.

Grading and driveway

W. Richardson St.

Peach State Construction Co
P.O. Box 87 · Covington, Georgia 30014

Office: 770-788-6363

March 19, 2024

Cemetery Driveway Ext. to



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NON-PERSONAL SERVICES CONTRACT 
Independent Service Provider Agreement 

 

This Agreement is made effective as of this date _____________ by and between the City of Oxford, 

110 West Clark Street, Oxford, Georgia 30054, and Burford’s Tree, LLC, 80 Spring Branch Drive, Suite 

F, Alexandria, Alabama 36250. In this Agreement, the party who is contracting to receive the services 

shall be referred to as “the City of Oxford”, and the party who will be providing the services shall be 

referred to as “Service Provider”.    

 

Therefore, the parties agree as follows: 

 

1. DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES.  

 

Provide tree trimming and removal on City of Oxford rights-of-way at the rate of $5,817.00 

per linear mile of right-of-way. 

 

Pruning objectives: 

1. Removed deadwood 2-inch diameter and larger within crown 

2. Remove damaged/rubbing branches, mistletoe 

3. Clearance pruning along streets as necessary for a minimum 14 ft. road clearance 

and/or for site visibility. 

 

All debris should be chipped and removed from site. 

 

All work must be completed and invoiced on or before June 30, 2024 

 

2. PAYMENT.  The City of Oxford will pay compensation to Service Provider for the services 

listed above, not to exceed $50,000.00. Compensation shall be payable upon completion of services of 

Service Provider and approval by the City of Oxford. Compensation shall be payable the first of the 

month following the month work was performed.  

 
NOTE: PLEASE FORWARD ALL INVOICES WITH ACCOMPANYING WAIVER/RELEASE TO MARCIA 

BROOKS, CITY CLERK/TREASURER WITH THE CITY OF OXFORD, GEORGIA AT THE ADDRESS 

BELOW: 

 

The City of Oxford, Georgia 

Oxford City Hall 

110 West Clark Street 

Oxford, GA 30054-2274 

 

3. WARRANTY.  The standard of care for all professional services performed or furnished by 

Service Provider under this Agreement will be the skill and care used by members of Service Provider’s 

profession practicing under similar circumstances at the same time and in the same locality. Service 

Provider makes no warranties, express or implied, under this Agreement or otherwise, in connection 

with Service Provider’s services. 



 

4. RELATIONSHIP OF PARTIES.  Service Provider is an independent Service Provider and 

neither Service Provider, Contractors employed by the Service Provider (if any), nor any of their agents 

are employees of the City of Oxford. Service Provider is responsible for the direction and supervision of 

its employees and Contractors and shall promptly remove any personnel who are not adhering to the 

terms of this Agreement. The City of Oxford will not provide fringe benefits, including health 

insurance, paid vacation, overtime, or any other employee benefit for the benefit of Service Provider. 

The Service Provider shall purchase and maintain insurance for claims covered under General Liability. 

This insurance shall be written by a company or companies approved by the City of Oxford, and for not 

less than One Million Dollars, ($1,000,000.00). Certificates of such insurance shall be filed with the City 

of Oxford prior to the commencement of the service provided and upon the City of Oxford’s request 

shall name same as an additional insured. 

 

5. INDEMNITY. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Service Provider shall indemnify the City 

of Oxford, its officers, directors, partners, employees, and representatives from and against all losses, 

damages, and judgments arising from claims by third parties, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and 

expenses recoverable under applicable law, but only to the extent they are found to be caused by a 

negligent act, error, or omission of Service Provider or Service Provider’s officers, directors, members, 

partners, agents, employees, or subconsultants in the performance of services under this Agreement. 

 

6. TERM/TERMINATION.  This Agreement shall be effective for a period of Six (6) Months, 

unless the City of Oxford provides 30 days written notice to Contractor prior to the termination of the 

applicable term. 

 

7. GOVERNING LAW. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with 

the substantive laws of the State of Georgia (excluding Choice of Law provisions). In performance of 

this Agreement, Service Provider will comply with all requirements of applicable state and local law, 

regulations and ordinances. Service Provider also agrees to abide by all) applicable rules and regulations 

of the City of Oxford. 

 

8. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This agreement contains the entire agreement of the parties, and 

there are no other promises or conditions in any other agreement whether oral or written. 

 

9. SEVERABILITY.  If any provisions of this agreement shall be held to be invalid or 

unenforceable for any reason, the remaining provisions shall continue to be valid and enforceable, but 

that by limiting such provision it would become valid and enforceable, then such provision shall be 

deemed to be written, construed, and enforced as so limited. 

 

 

City of Oxford 

 

By: _______________________________ 

 David Eady, Mayor 

 

Attest: ____________________________ 

           Bill Andrew, City Manager 

  

 

Service Provider: 

 

By: _______________________________ 

 

 

Date: ______________________________

Date: ______________________________ 

 

 

 

 



CONDITIONAL WAIVER AND RELEASE UPON PAYMENT 

 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF NEWTON 

 

The undersigned mechanic and/or materialman has been employed by City of Oxford, Contractor, to 

furnish all labor, equipment and supplies on property known as City of Oxford rights-of-way which are 

located in the City of Oxford, County of Newton, State of Georgia, and are owned by City of Oxford and 

more particularly described as follows:   

Trees on rights-of-way owned by the City of Oxford. 

Upon the receipt of the sum of $     the mechanic and/or material man waives and 

releases any and all liens or claims of lien it has upon the foregoing described property through the date of 

________________and excepting those rights and liens that the mechanic and/or materialman might have in 

any retained amounts, on account of labor or materials, or both, furnished by the undersigned to or on account 

of said contractor for said building or premises. 

 Given under hand and seal, this:  _____ day of __________, 2024. 

 

      BY: _________________________________ 

 

Title/Office: ___________________________ 

Sworn to and subscribed before me,  

This:   ______day of ____________, _____. 

 

________________________________ 

Notary Public 

BY: _________________________________ 

 

Title/Office: ___________________________ 

Sworn to and subscribed before me,  

This:  ______day of ____________, _____. 

 

________________________________ 

Notary Public 

 

 

 



UNCONDITIONAL WAIVER  

AND RELEASE UPON FINAL PAYMENT 
 

STATE OF GEORGIA 

COUNTY OF NEWTON 

 

 The undersigned mechanic and/or material man has been employed by City of Oxford, Contractor, to 

furnish all labor and materials on property known as rights-of-way within the City of Oxford, County of 

Newton, State of Georgia, and are owned by City of Oxford, and more particularly described as follows:  

 Trees located along rights of way within the City of Oxford. 

 

 Upon the receipt of the sum of $45,000.00 the mechanic and/or material man waives and releases 

any and all liens or claims of lien or any right against any labor and/or material bond it has upon the 

foregoing described property. 

Given under hand and seal, this _____ day of __________,  

BY:_________________________________ 

Title/Office:___________________________ 

 

 

      

 

BY:_________________________________ 

Title/Office:___________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sworn to and subscribed before me,  

 

This:  ______day of ____________, _____. 

 

________________________________ 

Notary Public 

      

 

 

Sworn to and subscribed before me,  

 

This:  ______day of ____________, _____. 

 

________________________________ 

Notary Public 
 

 

NOTICE:  THIS DOCUMENT WAIVES RIGHTS UNCONDITIONALLY  

AND STATES THAT YOU HAVE BEEN PAID FOR GIVING UP THOSE RIGHTS.   

THIS DOCUMENT IS ENFORCEABLE AGAINST YOU IF YOU SIGN IT, EVEN IF YOU HAVE NOT BEEN 

PAID.  IF YOU HAVE NOT YET BEEN PAID, USE A CONDITIONAL RELEASE FORM 
 

 



Contractor Affidavit under O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91(b)(1) 
 
 By executing this affidavit, the undersigned contractor verifies its compliance with O.C.G.A. § 13-
10-91, stating affirmatively that the individual, firm or corporation which is engaged in the physical 
performance of services on behalf of the City of Oxford has registered with, is authorized to use and 
uses the federal work authorization program commonly known as E-Verify, or any subsequent 
replacement program, in accordance with the applicable provisions and deadlines established in 
O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91.  Furthermore, the undersigned contractor will continue to use the federal work 
authorization program throughout the contract period and the undersigned contractor will contract 
for the physical performance of services in satisfaction of such contract only with subcontractors who 
present an affidavit to the contractor with the information required by O.C.G.A. § 13-10-91(b).  
Contractor hereby attests that its federal work authorization user identification number and date of 
authorization are as follows:  
 
35990 
Federal Work Authorization  
User Identification Number 
 
11/10/2006 
Date of Authorization  
 
Burford’s Tree, LLC 
Name of Contractor   
 
2024 Powerline Tree Pruning 
Name of Project  
 
City of Oxford 
Name of Public Employer  

 

I hereby declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct. 

Executed on _____________________(date) in __________________(city), ______(state). 

 
_________________________________ 
Signature of Authorized Officer or Agent 
 
_______________________________ 
Printed Name and Title of Authorized Officer or Agent  

 
SUBSCRIBED AND SWORN BEFORE ME  
ON THIS THE ______ DAY OF _______________________,202____. 
 
_________________________________ 
NOTARY PUBLIC 
 
My Commission Expires: 
 
_________________________________ 

























































   

 

   

 

 

May 2, 2024 

 
To:   David Eady 

Bill Andrew 
 
From: Marcia Brooks 
 
RE:  Request to close Sinking Fund 
 
This request is for authorization to close our United Bank Sinking Fund account 
and deposit the remaining balance into our Water/Sewer Capital Account.  Per 
the City Council’s instructions at their April 15, 2024 work session, I have 
transferred $710,000 to the Water/Sewer Capital account.  This leaves about 
$10,000 remaining in the account. 
 
The Sinking Fund was created at some time in the past when a GEFA loan was 
paid off.  The City Council determined that the amount of the monthly payment 
should be placed in a reserve account.  I am able to document activity in this 
account at least as far back as January 1, 2013.  Given that this account serves the 
same purpose as the Water/Sewer Capital Account, I would like to eliminate one 
bank account and deposit all monthly payments going forward to the 
Water/Sewer Capital Account. 
 
 
Approval Effective Date: ____________ 
 
 
 
Authorized Signature: __________________________   

David S. Eady, Mayor 
 
 

Authorized Signature: __________________________   
Bill Andrew, City Manager 

110 W. Clark Street 
Oxford, GA 30054 

Phone 770-786-7004 
Fax 770-786-2211 

www.oxfordgeorgia.org 

Incorporated December 23, 1839 
 

Mayor David S. Eady 
City Manager Bill Andrew 

City Clerk/Treasurer Marcia Brooks 
 







 

 
Memorandum 

To:  Mayor and City Council  
From:  Bill Andrew, City Manager 
Date:  April 12, 2024 
RE: Recommendations for Sewer Moratorium 

 
Background for the Catova Creek Line 
It should be noted that 12-inch Catova Creek sewer line has a physical capacity of 640,00 gpd 
 
+75,000 gallons per day (gpd) is the treatment capacity Oxford has in the Catova Creek line from 
the July 28, 1995 Agreement with Covington 
-36,900 gpd is in use (approximately) 
38,100 gpd is available (at best*) 
-18,300 gpd is being purchased by Archer Aviation for Phase 1 (Phase 2 may add another 37,500 
gpd) 
19,800 gpd available 
+18,000 gpd purchased from Covington 
37,800 gpd available 
 
Recommendation for the Catova Creek Line 
 
Due to Archer holding off on the purchase of their entire need of 55,800 gpd, the 
recommendation of staff would be to lift the moratorium on the Catova Creek Line.  It should be 
noted that discussions in 2022 brought up a possible need for the Phillips Property of 90,000 gpd 
for homes and 40,000 gpd for industrial.  Covington had indicated 300,000, now 282,000 gpd 
was available for purchase at $22.00 per gallon. 
 
*The current sewer capacity/flow study should give us a solid idea of how much inflow and 
infiltration (I&I) is occurring.  Inflow is the flow of precipitation into sanitary-sewer pipes 
through, for example, leaky manholes and gutter downspouts. Infiltration is the flow of 
groundwater into the same pipes through fractures, leaky joints, and other defects.  Once we have 
a handle on the I&I, we will develop and plan on what works needs to be done and then design a 
corrective action plan. 
 
Background for the Turkey Creek Line 
 
It appears the City of Oxford has 135,000 gpd in the Turkey Creek Line, which discharges to the 
Newton County Water and Sewerage Authority (NCWSA) Yellow River plant near Porterdale.  



 Page 2 
 

Emory University has an additional 85,000 gpd in this line.  The NCWSA would like to combine 
these two entities under one allocation to the City of Oxford.   
 
The flow study is necessary to learn what the capacity of the line and pump stations are currently 
and what loads they are handling.  The flow monitoring equipment was pulled the week of 
March 25th.  The engineers will need a month to process the data before it is ready for 
review.  The report is planned for release around June 1st.  Once the report is complete, we will 
have a clear picture of the next steps regarding available capacity and the need to purchase 
additional capacity for the City and Emory. 
 
Recommendation for the Turkey Creek Line 
 
Due to the need for more information, staff would recommend we extend the sewer moratorium 
until July 1, as June 17th will be our Work Session and July 1st will be our Regular Meeting. 
 
 

 
 



CITY OF OXFORD RESOLUTION NO. 
2023-00? 

 
RESOLUTION TO ADOPT AN EXTENDED 

MORATORIUM ON THE ACCEPTANCE OF APPLICATIONS FOR NEW 
CONNECTIONS IN THE TURKEY CREEK BASIN, TO THE SEWERAGE 

COLLECTION AND TREATMENT SYSTEM OF THE CITY OF OXFORD 
UNDER THE 

MUNICIPAL CODE OF OXFORD, GEORGIA 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Oxford, Georgia (“City Council”) under the 
Constitution and Laws of the State of Georgia is empowered by virtue of its police power 
to regulate the health, safety and welfare of the citizens of the City of Oxford to provide 
for and enact rules and regulations governing the use of utilities furnished by the City; 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Oxford Charter empowers the City to regulate municipal 

utilities furnished by the City; 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council exercised its authority to enact rules and regulations 
governing the use of utilities furnished by the City by adopting the “The Code of the City 
of Oxford, Georgia” (“City Code”) on 10/02/2006?; 

 
WHEREAS, Section ?Chapter 36, Article I of the City Code provides for the 

promulgation of regulations governing the use of utilities furnished by the City; 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed the current state of the utilities 
provided by the City as applied to new connections to the sewerage collection and 
treatment system of the City of Oxford, Georgia; 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council has determined, in November, 2023, that, in its 

current state, the sewerage collection and treatment system of the City of Oxford may not 
effectively service its future customers at its current flow; 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council has partnered, or is seeking to partner with the 

Newton County Water and Sewerage Authority (NCWSA) for a sewage flow and capacity 
study of the Turkey Creek Basin, and Dried Indian Creek Basin, which together comprise 
the entirety of the Service Area of the City of Oxford, Georgia, to determine if the current 
collection system and wastewater treatment plant capacity is adequate to future needs; 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council has subsequently received a satisfactory sewage 

flow and capacity study of the Catova Creek  Basin (formerly identified as the Dried 
Indian Creek Basin), such that the City Council deems it advisable to permit the current 
Moratorium expire, as to that basin, as on Monday, May 13, 2024 at 11:59 p.m.; 

 
WHEREAS, the sewage flow and capacity study of the Turkey Creek Basin, 

remains unfinished, such that the City Council remains unable, currently, to determine if 
the current collection system and wastewater treatment plant capacity is adequate to future 
needs in the Turkey Creek Basin; 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that new connections in the Turkey 

Creek Basin, to the sewerage collection and treatment system of the City of Oxford, 
Georgia would not be advisable until the NCWSA study is complete; 



 
WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that it is in the best interests of the 

citizens of Oxford, Georgia for the adoption of appropriate policies to protect the sewerage 
collection and treatment system of Oxford, Georgia and to address potential issues caused 
by an increase in flow in the Turkey Creek Basin; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council desires to continue to briefly control and prohibit 

the approval of applications for new connections to the sewerage collection and treatment 
systems in the Turkey Creek Basin ofwithin 
the City of Oxford, until such time as appropriate measures can be accomplished to 
accommodate new connections, by extending the current Moratorium as applied to 
Turkey Creek Basin; 

 
 

NOW THEREFORE, IT SHALL BE AND IS HEREBY RESOLVED by the 
City Council of Oxford, Georgia, and the following Resolution shall be and is hereby 
enacted, as follows: 

 
Section 1: Enactment of a Moratorium on New Connections to the Sewerage 

Collection and Treatment System of Oxford, Georgia. The City Council hereby adopts, 
and extends for a period of one hundred eighty (180) days beginning on the date of 
adoption of this Resolution, a moratorium on the receipt, acceptance, consideration and 
approval of any applications for new connections in the Turkey Creek Basin, to the 
sewerage collection and treatment systems of the City of Oxford., and enacts and directs 
any and all applicable personnel and agencies of Oxford, Georgia to enforce a moratorium 
on receipt, acceptance, consideration and approval of any applications for new 
connections to the sewerage collection and treatment systems of the City of Oxfordthe 
same. 

 
Section 2: Duration. The moratorium period shall commence on Tuesday, May 

14, 2024 Monday, November 6, 2023 at 12:00 a.m. and shall terminate on 
WednesdayThursday, NovemberMay 136, 2024 at 11:59 p.m., unless further extended 
by the City Council. 

 
Section 3: Impact on Other Development Ordinances. The provisions of this 

resolution shall not restrict or prohibit any other development of any real property except 
that specifically stated herein. 

 
SO RESOLVED, this 6th day of May,November 20243. 

 
 
 

David S. Eady, Mayor 
 
 
 

Jim Windham, Mayor Pro Tem 
 
 
 

Erik Oliver, Councilmember 



 
 
 

George Holt, Councilmember 
 
 
 

Laura McCanless, Councilmember 
 
 
 

Mike Ready, Councilmember 



ATTEST: 
 
 
 

Marcia Brooks, City Clerk 



CITY OF OXFORD RESOLUTION 

NO. 2024-001 

RESOLUTION TO ADOPT AN EXTENDED MORATORIUM ON 
THE ACCEPTANCE OF APPLICATIONS FOR NEW 

CONNECTIONS IN THE TURKEY CREEK BASIN, TO THE 
SEWERAGE COLLECTION AND TREATMENT SYSTEM OF 
THE CITY OF OXFORD UNDER THE MUNICIPAL CODE OF 

OXFORD, GEORGIA 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council of Oxford, Georgia (“City Council”) under the 
Constitution and Laws of the State of Georgia is empowered by virtue of its police power 
to regulate the health, safety and welfare of the citizens of the City of Oxford to provide 
for and enact rules and regulations governing the use of utilities furnished by the City; 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Oxford Charter empowers the City to regulate municipal 

utilities furnished by the City; 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council exercised its authority to enact rules and regulations 
governing the use of utilities furnished by the City by adopting the “The Code of the City 
of Oxford, Georgia” (“City Code”) on 10/02/2006; 

 
WHEREAS, Chapter 36, Article I of the City Code provides for the promulgation 

of regulations governing the use of utilities furnished by the City; 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed the current state of the utilities 
provided by the City as applied to new connections to the sewerage collection and 
treatment system of the City of Oxford, Georgia; 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council determined, in November, 2023, that, in its current 

state, the sewerage collection and treatment system of the City of Oxford may not 
effectively service its future customers at its current flow; 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council has partneredwith the Newton County Water and 

Sewerage Authority (NCWSA) for a sewage flow and capacity study of the Turkey Creek 
Basin, and Dried Indian Creek Basin, which together comprise the entirety of the Service 
Area of the City of Oxford, Georgia, to determine if the current collection system and 
wastewater treatment plant capacity is adequate to future needs; 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council has subsequently received a satisfactory sewage 

flow and capacity study of the Catova Creek  Basin (formerly identified as the Dried 
Indian Creek Basin), such that the City Council deems it advisable to permit the current 
Moratorium expire, as to that basin, as on Monday, May 13, 2024 at 11:59 p.m.; 

 
WHEREAS, the sewage flow and capacity study of the Turkey Creek Basin, 

remains unfinished, such that the City Council remains unable, currently, to determine if 
the current collection system and wastewater treatment plant capacity is adequate to future 
needs in the Turkey Creek Basin; 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that new connections in the Turkey 

Creek Basin, to the sewerage collection and treatment system of the City of Oxford, 



Georgia would not be advisable until the NCWSA study is complete; 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council has determined that it is in the best interests of the 
citizens of Oxford, Georgia for the adoption of appropriate policies to protect the sewerage 
collection and treatment system of Oxford, Georgia and to address potential issues caused 
by an increase in flow in the Turkey Creek Basin; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council desires to continue to briefly control and prohibit the 
approval of applications for new connections to the sewerage collection and treatment 
systems in the Turkey Creek Basin withinthe City of Oxford, until such time as 
appropriate measures can be accomplished to accommodate new connections, by 
extending the current Moratorium as applied to Turkey Creek Basin; 

NOW THEREFORE, IT SHALL BE AND IS HEREBY RESOLVED by the 
City Council of Oxford, Georgia, and the following Resolution shall be and is hereby 
enacted, as follows: 

 
Section 1: Enactment of a Moratorium on New Connections to the Sewerage 

Collection and Treatment System of Oxford, Georgia. The City Council hereby adopts, 
and extends for a period of one hundred eighty (180) days beginning on the date of 
adoption of this Resolution, a moratorium on the receipt, acceptance, consideration and 
approval of any applications for new connections in the Turkey Creek Basin, to the 
sewerage collection and treatment systems of the City of Oxford., and enacts and directs 
any and all applicable personnel and agencies of Oxford, Georgia to enforce a moratorium 
on the same. 

 
Section 2: Duration. The moratorium period shall commence on Tuesday, May 

14, 2024  at 12:00 a.m. and shall terminate on Wednesday, November 13, 2024 at 11:59 
p.m., unless further extended by the City Council. 

 
Section 3: Impact on Other Development Ordinances. The provisions of this 

resolution shall not restrict or prohibit any other development of any real property except 
that specifically stated herein. 

 
SO RESOLVED, this 6th day of May, 2024. 

 
 
 

David S. Eady, Mayor 
 
 
 

Jim Windham, Mayor Pro Tem 
 
 
 

Erik Oliver, Councilmember 
 
 
 

George Holt, Councilmember 



 
 
 

Laura McCanless, Councilmember 
 
 
 

Mike Ready, Councilmember 
ATTEST: 

 
 
 

Marcia Brooks, City Clerk 



City of Oxford 

Invoices >=$1,000 

Paid April 2024 

 
VENDOR  DESCRIPTION  AMOUNT  

RECURRING CHARGES 

City of Covington Quarterly sewer charges – January – March 2024 9,348.00 

Newton County Water & Sewerage 

Authority 

Sewer Treatment Fees and Plant Maintenance, 2/28/2024 – 

3/27/2024 

7,888.28 

Newton County Board of 

Commissioners 

Water Purchased for Resale – March 2024; Invoice #3214 

 

16,186.00 

Georgia Municipal Association GMEBS Life and Health Insurance - May 2024; Invoice 

#347875  

15,417.54 

Georgia Municipal Association GIRMA Property & Liability Renewal 5/1/2024-4/30/2024 62,919.00 

Municipal Electric Authority of 

Georgia (MEAG) 

Monthly Electric Purchases for March 2024 88,299.38 

Electric Cities of Georgia Consulting and planning services for April 2024  5,984.00 

U.S. Dept. of Treasury  Federal Payroll Taxes, April 2024  23,830.71 

Courtware Solutions Licensing, support and maintenance for Municipal Court case 

management – March 2024 

1,200.00 

VC3, Inc. Replace computer – Jody Reid 1,429.00 

Latham Home Sanitation Residential and Commercial Waste Removal Services - March 

2024 

10,263.75 

U.S. Department of Energy  SEPA Energy Cost 

January 2024 – Invoice # B-24-0911 – 3,608.89 

February 2024 – Invoice # B-24-1181 – 2,866.41 

March 2024 – Invoice # B-24-1451 – 3,223.80 

9,699.10 

 

PURCHASES/CONTRACT LABOR 

C. David Strickland, P.C. Legal services, March 2024 2,980.50 

Freeman Law Firm, LLC Municipal Court Solicitor services, November 2023-March 

2024 

1,800.00 

Keck & Wood Emory Street Sidewalks, Phase II services, January28 - March 

2 2024 – 5,500.00 

Emory Street/E. Wade Street Drainage Improvements – 

January 28 – March 2, 2024 – 4,772.50 

10,272.50 

Over and Under General 

Contractors, Inc. 

Emergency Call – replace transformer at Oxford Baptist 

Church; Invoice #15866 

1,567.85 

Scarborough Tree, Inc. 4/22/2024 removal of 15 Bradford pear trees with stump 

grinding 

6,000.00 

Cintas Uniform Services for Public Works Dept., March 2024 1,398.84 

Covington Ford Vehicle Repairs – 2013 Taurus Police Vehicle; Invoice # 

60967 – 5,279.53 

Vehicle Repairs – 2022 Ford Explorer Police Vehicle; Invoice 

#63098 – 1,257.40 

6,536.93 

Big and Heavy Equipment Service Repairs – Chipper Truck; P.O. #15601  2,884.64 

AtkinsRealis Conceptual Planning/Trail Alignment – 3 Trails Project – Inv. 

#2012260 – 16,277.07 

Whatcoat Street Improvements – Invoice #2014125 – 8,644.50 

24,921.57 

Peach State Construction Co., LLC Emory Street Sidewalk Construction (North) 

Pay App #2 – 11/26/2023-1/24/2024 – 228,639.42 

Pay App #3 – 1/25/2024 – 3/4/2024 – 344,146.93 

572,786.35 

Designed Installations Pierce St. asphalt repair; Invoice #215-39-24 9,480.00 

Vanasse Hangen Brustiin, Inc. Sewage Spill Monitoring for sewage spill on Turkey Creek 1,563.75 

Utility Service Co., Inc. Quarterly water tank monitoring – Jan.-March 2024 3,903.28 

 


	000 AGENDA VOTING MTG MAY 6 2024
	003a DRAFT Minutes Regular Session April 1 2024
	003c DRAFT Minutes - Work Session - April 15 2024
	003d DRAFT Minutes Special Called Voting Meeting April 15 2024
	006 New Access Road 22.10.13
	New Access Road 22.10.13
	Slide 1 
	Slide 2 
	Slide 3 
	Slide 4 


	006b Oxford - Cemetery Access to W. Richardon St - 3-19-2024
	007 2024 City of Oxford Powerline Tree Trimming - Burfords Tree LLC
	007a Contractor E-Verify Affidavit Burford's Tree LLC
	007b City of Covington - Burford 2022 Executed contract
	Pages from Binder1.pdf
	img20220211_12371489.pdf
	Pages from Binder1-2.pdf

	008 Request to close Sinking Fund
	009 Oxford Resolution Sewer Moratorium BA.DS FINAL. EXECUTED
	009a Sewer Moratorium Memo to Council 24.04.12
	009b Oxford Resolution Sewer Moratorium Extension REDLINE  (2024)
	009c Oxford Resolution Sewer Moratorium Extension (2024) FINAL
	011 Invoices 1000+April 2024

